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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

CHARLOTTE DIVISION

Civil Action No. 09-CV-352-MOC-DSC

VENUS Y. SPRINGS, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. )
)

MAYER BROWN, LLP, )
)

Defendant. )
)

DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, Defendant Mayer Brown, LLP ("Mayer Brown" or 

"Firm") requests the Court to enter an Order granting it summary judgment on plaintiff's claims 

of discriminatory discharge in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, et seq. ("Title VII"), 42 U.S.C. § 1981 ("Section 1981"), and North Carolina 

public policy, as expressed in the North Carolina Equal Employment Practices Act, N.C. Gen. 

Stat. §§ 143-422.1 et. seq.  See Amended Complaint, ¶ 44, 49 (Dkt. Entry 18), Title VII 

Complaint, ¶ 45 (Dkt. Entry 1) (consolidated from 3:10-CV-00385).

As demonstrated in the Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment, which is being filed contemporaneously herewith and is incorporated herein by 

reference pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c), plaintiff's race played no role in the decision to 

terminate her employment and her claims are deficient as a matter of law.  Plaintiff cannot state a 

prima facie case of wrongful discharge because she fails to establish that she was replaced or that 

she was meeting the legitimate expectations of the Firm at the time of her discharge.  Further the 

undisputed material facts show that she was terminated for a legitimate non-discriminatory 
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reason – her poor performance – and she cannot establish that this reason was a mere pretext for 

race discrimination.  As a result, defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment should be granted, 

and plaintiff's claims should be dismissed.

As evidentiary support for its Motion, Mayer Brown relies upon the following exhibits 

attached hereto:

 Exhibit A: Declaration of Frank Arado;

 Exhibit B: Cited portions of the deposition of plaintiff Venus Yvette Springs;

 Exhibit C: Cited portions of the deposition of Frank Arado;

 Exhibit D: Cited portions of the deposition of Jonathan A. Barrett;

 Exhibit E: Cited portions of the deposition of Mary K. Mandeville;

 Exhibit F: Cited portions of the deposition of Keith J. Willner;

 Exhibit G: Cited portions of the deposition of Kimberly Sipes Owens;

 Exhibit H: Cited portions of the deposition of Douglas Lee Wisner; and

 Exhibit I: Unpublished decisions cited in the Memorandum in Support of 
Defendant's Motion to Dismiss.

This the 31st day of October 2011.

Respectfully submitted,

MCGUIREWOODS LLP

/s/ Makila Sands Scruggs
Bruce M. Steen (N.C. Bar No. 30222)
bsteen@mcguirewoods.com
Makila Sands Scruggs (N.C. Bar No. 37212)
mscruggs@mcguirewoods.com
MCGUIREWOODS LLP

201 North Tryon Street
Charlotte, North Carolina  28202
704.353.6244
704.353.6200 (Facsimile)

Attorneys for Defendant
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notice of such filing 

to counsel to plaintiff:

Julie H. Fosbinder
501 East Morehead Street, Suite 1
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

This the 31st day of October 2011.

/s/ Makila Sands Scruggs
Attorney
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

CHARLOTTE DIVISION

Civil Action No. 09-CV-352-MOC-DSC

VENUS Y. SPRINGS, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. )
)

MAYER BROWN, LLP, )
)

Defendant. )
)

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, Defendant Mayer Brown, LLP ("Mayer Brown" or 

"Firm") states as follows in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment:

I. Introduction

Mayer Brown employed plaintiff Venus Yvette Springs ("Springs"), an African-

American female, for a little more than one year as a real estate associate in its Charlotte, North 

Carolina office, ending in September 2008.  Springs was discharged at that time for poor 

performance.  Plaintiff alleges that Mayer Brown terminated her employment because of her 

race, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, 

et seq. ("Title VII"), 42 U.S.C. § 1981 ("Section 1981"), and North Carolina public policy, as 

expressed in the North Carolina Equal Employment Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 143-422.1 

et. seq.  See Amended Complaint, ¶ 44, 49 (Dkt. Entry 18), Title VII Complaint, ¶ 45 (Dkt. Entry 

1) (consolidated from 3:10-CV-00385).  Plaintiff's race, however, played no factor in the 

decision to terminate her employment.

Case 3:09-cv-00352-MOC-DSC   Document 75-1   Filed 10/31/11   Page 1 of 23



2

 Rather, as demonstrated below, plaintiff's claims are deficient as a matter of law.  

Plaintiff cannot state a prima facie case of wrongful discharge because she fails to establish that 

she was replaced or that she was meeting the legitimate expectations of the Firm at the time of 

her discharge.  Further the undisputed material facts show that she was terminated for a 

legitimate non-discriminatory reason – her poor performance – and she cannot establish that this 

reason was a mere pretext for race discrimination.  As a result, defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment should be granted, and plaintiff's claims should be dismissed.

II. Procedural History

On May 29, 2009, plaintiff filed a Complaint in state court alleging, inter alia, that Mayer 

Brown violated 42 U.S.C. § 1981 by allegedly harassing her and terminating her employment 

based on her race.  She also asserted various state-law claims, including a claim for wrongful 

discharge based on the public policy of North Carolina as expressed in N.C. Gen. Stat.  §§ 143-

422.1, et seq., and named Jonathan A. Barrett as an additional party defendant.  Defendants filed 

a timely notice removing that action to this Court.  See Springs v. Mayer Brown, LLP, et al., 

(Civil Action No. 3:09-cv-00352-MR-DSC).  On June 9, 2010, this Court entered an Order 

dismissing plaintiff's claim for racial harassment against Mayer Brown under Section 1981, 

dismissing all of her state-law claims other than her public policy wrongful discharge claim, and 

dismissing all claims against Barrett. (Dkt. Entry 23).

On August 18, 2010, plaintiff filed a new Complaint against Mayer Brown and Barrett in 

which she alleged that Mayer Brown harassed her and terminated her employment based on her 

race, but this time based on Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§

2000e, et seq. ("Title VII").  See Complaint (Dkt. Entry 1)(Civil Action No. 3:10-CV-00385).  

Plaintiff's Complaints were identical in virtually every other respect.  The Court consolidated the 
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two actions on September 7, 2010. (Dkt. Entry 29).  On January 26, 2011, the Court once again 

dismissed plaintiff's claims for racial harassment (this time under Title VII) and dismissed 

Barrett as a party.  (Dkt. Entry 37).  Thus, only plaintiff's wrongful discharge claims survive in 

this litigation.1

III. Statement of Undisputed Material Facts

A. Plaintiff's Employment at Mayer Brown.

1. Mayer Brown LLP is a law firm with offices in several cities, including Charlotte, 

North Carolina. (Arado Decl. ¶ 3).2

2. In the summer of 2007, while plaintiff was working for another law firm in 

Charlotte, Mayer Brown recruited plaintiff, an African-American female, to join its real estate 

practice group in Charlotte. (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 8, 9; Pl. depo. Exh. 30).

3. Frank Arado, a partner in the firm and the real estate practice group leader of the 

Charlotte office, made the decision to hire plaintiff after discussion with his Firm practice group 

leaders, and the partner in charge of the Charlotte office, Jonathan Barrett. (Arado Decl. ¶ 14).

4. Plaintiff's starting salary at Mayer Brown was $210,000 and she was given a 

$15,000 signing bonus.  (Arado Decl.  ¶ 16).  Like all full-time associates,  plaintiff was expected 

to bill 2100 hours as defined by the Firm, including primarily work that was requested by Firm 

clients.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 18; Arado depo. 42:15-20).

5. The real estate practice group, started by Arado in 2006, was new to the Charlotte 

office of Mayer Brown.  (Barrett depo. 50:1-8; Arado depo. 21:23-22:22).  At the time Arado 

                                                
1 Also pending before the Court is defendant Mayer Brown's counterclaim against 

plaintiff for wrongful conversion.  See Dkt. Entries 24, 31.

2 The Arado Declaration and the deposition excerpts cited in this Memorandum are 
attached as Exhibits to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, being filed 
contemporaneously with this Memorandum.
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recruited plaintiff, the real estate practice group in Charlotte was an equity-focused practice, with 

little to no real estate lending or finance work. (Barrett depo. 50:20-23).  However, as Arado 

continued to grow the Charlotte real estate practice, Arado was interested in developing the 

group's expertise in real estate lending by hiring seasoned lawyers with real estate lending 

experience. (Arado Decl. ¶ 12).  By all accounts, Arado determined that plaintiff fit that 

description. (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 12, 13; Arado depo. 33:23-34:5; 41:18-22).

6. Plaintiff started work at Mayer Brown on or around July 30, 2007.  (Pl. depo. 

26:16-17).

7. Prior to joining Mayer Brown, plaintiff worked for approximately five years at a 

national law firm in Charlotte, where she reportedly gained experience originating real estate 

loans intended for securitization, negotiating credit and loan agreements, closing real estate 

lending transactions, and conducting due diligence on such transactions. (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 9-10; 

Arado depo. 34:22-24; Pl. depo. Exh. 30).

8. Plaintiff understood that her experience in mezzanine lending and doing bank 

lender's work was of value to Mayer Brown.  (Pl. depo. 203:2-13).  Indeed, Arado expected that 

plaintiff's primary focus at Mayer Brown would be real estate lending transactions, in particular 

originating real estate loans intended for securitization, which at the time included mezzanine 

loans.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 19).

9. Because there was not an established real estate lending practice in Charlotte, 

Arado anticipated keeping plaintiff busy by having her work with lawyers in other Mayer Brown 

offices who had such practices while he worked to build a real estate lending practice in 

Charlotte. (Arado Decl. ¶ 20; Wisner depo. 13:1-7).
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10. Based on Arado's understanding of plaintiff's level of experience, he expected that 

plaintiff would function at a senior associate level – that is, independently and effectively, 

without requiring detailed partner oversight.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 21; Arado depo. 68:15-16).

11. Arado spread word of plaintiff's real estate lending expertise to partners in the 

Firm's other offices with real estate lending work and encouraged them to work with plaintiff and 

to introduce plaintiff to Firm clients.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 22).  For example, on July 31, 2007, a day 

after plaintiff joined the Firm, Arado sent an email to Robert Gordon, a partner in Mayer 

Brown's Chicago office with a significant real estate lending practice stating: "I just wanted to let 

you know that Yvette Springs joined us yesterday and will be available to help you as of 

tomorrow."  (Arado Decl. ¶ 23).  

12. Similarly, Arado reached out to several other partners with real estate lending 

practices including, Dean Isaacs, Keith Willner, Michael Sloyer, Jeff Usow, and Doug Wisner 

informing them of plaintiff's prior work experience and her perceived real estate lending 

expertise. (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 24-26).  And a month later, during a conference call with all of the 

real estate partners in the Firm, Arado mentioned to the entire group that plaintiff had recently 

joined the Firm, and highlighted her experience and perceived expertise. (Arado Decl. ¶ 27).

B. Plaintiff's Performance Deficiencies.

13. Arado's efforts to encourage partners within the Firm to utilize plaintiff was 

successful.  In short order, plaintiff was given the opportunity to work on real estate lending 

deals with several of the Firm's partners, including Doug Wisner in New York, Dean Isaacs and 

Kelly Ryan in Chicago and Arado.  She also was introduced to Firm clients by other partners, 

including Robert Gordon, Michael Sloyer in New York, and Keith Willner in Washington, D.C., 
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via lunches and client meetings. (Pl. depo. 205:6-206:10, 270:5-25, 271:1-18; Arado Decl. ¶¶ 

28-30; Willner depo. 44:3-16).

14. Within a short period of time, however, partners and Firm clients alike began to 

complain to Arado about plaintiff's work performance – in particular that she was unresponsive 

and excessively combative in her communications. (Arado Decl. ¶ 33).  Arado himself observed 

that plaintiff did not work standard and consistent hours making it difficult to predict when she 

would be available and that she was delinquent with her time entries.  (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 31, 32).

15. In one of the first deals that she worked on at Mayer Brown, a transaction 

supervised by Doug Wisner in New York while Arado was on leave, Wisner reported to Arado 

that he had received several calls from the client expressing frustration with how plaintiff was 

handling the transaction. (Wisner depo. 68:18-69:4).  Wisner complained that the client found 

plaintiff to be difficult to work with and obstreperous. (Wisner depo. p. 69:1-10).  Wisner later 

memorialized his complaints in an email to Arado stating that plaintiff had "significant client 

relationship issues.  The client called me more than once to express concern about [plaintiff] 

since she would be combative at times with the client and the Borrower's counsel although in 

fairness to her there were times when the Borrower's counsel created frustration for everyone.  

Nonetheless, she did not instill confidence in the client or in me." (Wisner depo. Exh. 19; Arado 

Decl. ¶ 34).

16. Indeed, on the same transaction, a different contact person employed by the 

corporate client, expressed concerns about plaintiff's performance.  The client complained 

directly to Arado that plaintiff had been adversarial, confrontational, and aggressive.  (Arado 

depo. 151: 4-9).
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17. When the deal closed, in-house counsel for the client recounted that the business 

people had been appalled by plaintiff's behavior during the transaction and that plaintiff had 

threatened the viability of the transaction. (Arado depo. 152:23-153:16).  

18. In November 2007, Robert Gordon, another Mayer Brown partner, expressed 

concerns to Arado related to plaintiff's performance after Gordon and plaintiff were asked to 

contact a client to discuss a potential new piece of work.  (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 37-38).  Gordon 

explained that, during the telephone call, plaintiff offered the client advice in an area of law in 

which she did not practice without first conferring with lawyers in the firm with that expertise.  

(Arado Decl. ¶ 38).  After Gordon instructed plaintiff to solicit such advice, he recounted being 

informed that the advice plaintiff had initially offered was premature and incorrect.  (Arado Decl.

¶ 38).

19. In December 2007, a client complained to Arado about plaintiff's 

unresponsiveness. (Arado Decl. ¶ 40; Arado depo. 92:14-93:21).  During her deposition in this 

matter, the client recalled complaining to Arado about "[plaintiff] not having been as polished as 

I would have liked for her to have been on conversations and coming across as antagonistic…"

(Owens depo. 40:10-17).

20. Thus, in January 2008, when Arado met with plaintiff to provide an informal 

review of her first six-months of work, Arado had concerns about plaintiff's performance. 

(Arado Decl. ¶ 44).

21. Prior to the meeting, Arado made notes of the positive and negative aspects of 

plaintiff's performance that he wanted to share with her.  In this regard, Arado, thought that the 

positive areas of plaintiff's performance included her substantive knowledge and commitment to 

pro bono, but he was concerned about her combative communication style, as well as her 
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inconsistent work hours and delinquent time entries. (Arado Decl. ¶ 44; Arado depo. 130:14-

138:23, Exh. 24).  

22. Plaintiff acknowledges that, during this meeting, Arado reported that "Doug 

thought I was too harsh on one correspondence with a senior lender attorney…" (Pl. depo. 

226:4-11).3

23. Plaintiff's performance issues did not improve.  Instead, it became increasingly 

clear that plaintiff was unable to produce quality work without extensive partner involvement 

and supervision. (Arado Decl. ¶ 47).

24. In the early part of 2008, Chicago partner Dean Isaacs staffed plaintiff on two 

lending transactions. (Arado Decl. ¶ 50; Pl. depo. 205:1-206:4).  Isaacs' early assessment of 

plaintiff's work was that she had done a "decent" job on drafting some of the deal documents.  

But, Isaacs noted that he had issues with plaintiff's responsiveness.  In addition, because he was 

not confident that plaintiff could handle both of the transactions that he had assigned to her, he 

pulled one of the deals from her. (Arado Decl. ¶ 52).  Isaacs wrote off all the time that plaintiff 

had billed to the client for that transaction, citing the "very poor job" that plaintiff had done. 

(Arado Decl. ¶ 53).

25. Isaacs continued to work with plaintiff on the remaining deal that he had assigned 

to her, but, just a few weeks later, Isaacs' opinion of plaintiff's work had further diminished from 

"decent" to "mediocre."  (Arado Decl. ¶ 54).

26. Isaacs wrote to Arado that: "[Plaintiff] does not appear to be the outstanding 

associate I was hoping she would be… She cannot be trusted to do deals on her own.  I would 

                                                
3 Plaintiff does not recall any other negative aspects of her performance that Arado 

testified he was concerned about and prepared in advance to share with plaintiff.  (Pl. depo. 
221:2-222:4).
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not let her send a document out without reviewing it first…she will probably get a mediocre 

review from me (given she is a 6th year) and I probably won't use her anymore…"  Isaacs also 

expressed frustration that plaintiff had left for a one week vacation and was out of the office, 

without telling him, in the middle of a transaction.  (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 54-55). 

27. Kelly Ryan, another Mayer Brown partner in the Chicago office, expressed 

equally troubling concerns to Arado about plaintiff's performance after she was staffed on a 

lending transaction with him in 2008.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 56).

28. Ryan complained to Arado that, based on plaintiff's level of experience, he had 

anticipated that she would take the lead on the transaction while his role would be limited to 

managing the client relationship.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 56).  Instead, Ryan stated to Arado that he was 

repeatedly forced to become involved in the transaction because plaintiff was combative and 

unresponsive.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 56).  Ryan advised Arado that plaintiff needed to pay more 

attention to detail, be more attentive to deadlines and work more in the office.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 

57).  He also expressed his opinion that the client did not seem satisfied with the work that 

plaintiff had performed and that Mayer Brown would not likely receive any additional work from 

this client. (Arado Decl. ¶ 57).

29. By March 2008, Arado had significant concerns about plaintiff's performance and 

continued success at the Firm.  Indeed, most if not all of the partners with whom plaintiff had 

worked had expressed to Arado a negative opinion of her performance. (Arado Decl. ¶ 58).  

Because these were the same partners who could provide plaintiff with ongoing lending work, 

which had not yet materialized in Charlotte, these partners' negative views of plaintiff's 

performance was of considerable importance and concern to Arado.  Thus, on March 21, 2008, 

when Arado prepared a report regarding the real estate practice group in Charlotte he noted that 
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plaintiff's "unfavorable reviews" were a special situation which required attention.  (Arado Decl. 

¶ 59).

30. On or about April 7, 2008, Arado met with plaintiff to discuss the concerns that 

had been raised about her performance. (Arado Decl. ¶ 60; Pl. depo. 274:2-5).  During the 

meeting, Arado informed plaintiff that Kelly Ryan and Dean Isaacs were dissatisfied with her 

work. (Pl. depo. 275:13-17).  Plaintiff states that she denied that Dean Isaacs was dissatisfied 

with her performance, (Pl. depo. 275:25-276:20) and turned away from Arado (Arado Decl. ¶ 61) 

to search on her computer for an e-mail which she believed expressed Isaacs' satisfaction with 

her performance. (Pl. depo. 275:25-276:20).

31. Plaintiff's refusal to accept the criticism being shared about her performance left 

Arado with no confidence that plaintiff could address and turn around the performance issues 

which had been shared with him by partners in the Firm and clients.4 (Arado Decl. ¶ 62).

32. Following his April meeting with plaintiff, Arado solicited email views of 

plaintiff's performance from partners who had worked with her. (Arado Decl. ¶ 64). After 

reviewing emails including the partners' assessments of plaintiff's work, and based upon his own 

view of plaintiff's poor communication with partners, poor attitude, sub-par work performance, 

lack of availability, and the fact that the very partners who could have provided her with real 

estate lending work had lost confidence in her abilities and would no longer utilize her on their 

transactions, Arado decided to terminate plaintiff's employment.  (Arado depo. 182:20-23).  

                                                
4 The email that plaintiff subsequently provided to Arado did not assuage his concerns 

because it predated by several months Isaacs' report to Arado regarding the issues he had with 
plaintiff's performance and because the essence of the e-mail was Isaacs criticizing documents 
that plaintiff drafted and plaintiff apologizing to Isaacs for turning in work product rife with 
errors.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 63).   
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Before implementing his decision, Arado discussed the matter with his real estate Firm practice 

group leaders and Barrett. (Arado Decl. ¶ 67).

C. Plaintiff's Separation from Mayer Brown.

33. On May 22, 2008, Arado, along with Mary Mandeville, a member of the Firm's 

Committee on Professional Advancement, met with plaintiff to discuss her employment. (Arado 

depo. 141:2-15).  During this meeting, Arado informed plaintiff that she was being asked to 

leave the Firm because partners and clients had lost confidence in her abilities.  (Pl. depo 284:5-

21; Mandeville depo. 52:13-17).  

34. Consistent with the Firm's standard practice when it asks an associate to leave for 

work-related reasons, plaintiff was given 90 days (with some leeway for an extension) to secure 

another position, so as to permit plaintiff to resign and immediately pick up with a new 

employer.  (Mandeville depo. 58:1-6, 68:10-18; Pl. depo. 285:20-286:1).

35. Plaintiff was provided with outplacement coaching services and permitted to 

continue to use her office and Firm resources to search for a new position. (Pl. depo. 286: 9-17,

291:13-292:25).  Plaintiff's last day of employment with Mayer Brown was on or around 

September 5, 2008.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 71; Pl. depo. 26:18-23).  

36. Plaintiff had applied for a position with Ally Financial ("Ally") in August 2008, 

and she started work at Ally in October 2008, after separating from Mayer Brown.  (Pl. depo. 

174:20-24).

37. No one was hired to replace plaintiff in performing (or being available to 

perform) securitized lending transactions in the Charlotte office. (Arado Decl. ¶ 72). 

38. Plaintiff's primary work for Mayer Brown had been in the area of work for which 

she had been hired – real estate lending. (Pl. depo. 230:2-5).  In the weeks and months leading 
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up to her discharge, because of her poor performance, partners and clients of the Firm with this 

type of work had all but decided not to utilize plaintiff, such that at the time of her termination, 

she was engaged in very little if any client-chargeable work.  (Arado Decl. ¶¶ 65, 73).

39. At the same time, the demand for originating real estate loans intended for 

securitization lending transactions was severely reduced due to the global economic downturn.  

Even today there is little to none of this type of real estate work in the Firm generally, and the 

Charlotte office more specifically.  (Arado Decl. ¶ 74).

IV. Argument

A. Summary Judgment Standard.

Summary judgment is "an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, which are 

designed 'to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.'"  Celotex 

Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 321, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2552 (1986).  Courts have an "obligation … 

to prevent 'factually unsupported claims' … from proceeding to trial."  Felty v. Graves-

Humphreys Co., 818 F.2d 1126, 1128 (4th Cir. 1987).  Thus, summary judgment is appropriate if 

the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and other discovery documents show that there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter 

of law.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); Zahodnick v. IBM, 135 F.3d 911, 913 (4th Cir. 1997).  The 

party seeking summary judgment bears the burden of initially coming forward and demonstrating 

the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.  See Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 323, 106 S. Ct. at 

2548.  Once the moving party has met its burden, the non-moving party must then affirmatively 

demonstrate that there is a genuine issue of material fact which requires trial. See Matsushita 

Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S. Ct. 1348 (1986). There is no 

issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a fact finder 
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to return a verdict for that party. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250, 106 S. 

Ct. 2505 (1986); Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert County, Md., 48 F.3d 810, 817 (4th Cir. 1995).  

Thus, the moving party can bear his burden either by presenting affirmative evidence or by 

demonstrating that the non-moving party's evidence is insufficient to establish his claim.

In opposing summary judgment, plaintiff may not rest on mere allegations or denials.  

See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248, 106 S. Ct. at 2510.  Rather, plaintiff must produce "significant 

probative evidence tending to support the complaint" or provide "specific facts showing that 

there is a genuine issue for trial."  Id. at 248-49, 106 S. Ct. at 2510, citing, First Nat'l Bank v. 

Cities Serv. Co., 391 U.S. 253, 290, 88 S. Ct. 1575, 1593 (1968).  While the court must view the 

evidence, and all justifiable inferences from the evidence, in the light most favorable to the non-

moving party, Zahodnick, 135 F.3d at 913; Halperin v. Abacus Tech. Corp., 128 F.3d 191, 196 

(4th Cir. 1997), plaintiff "cannot create a genuine issue of material fact through mere speculation 

or the building of one inference upon another."  Beale v. Hardy, 769 F.2d 213, 214 (4th Cir. 

1985).  "Mere unsupported speculation … is not enough to defeat a summary judgment motion."

Ennis v. National Ass'n of Bus. & Educ. Radio, Inc., 53 F.3d 55, 62 (4th Cir. 1995).  As the 

Supreme Court has noted, "a scintilla of evidence in support of the plaintiff's position will be 

insufficient [to overcome summary judgment]; there must be evidence on which the jury could 

reasonably find for the plaintiff."  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252, 106 S. Ct. at 2512.  See also Austin 

v. Clark Equipment Co., 48 F.3d 833, 836 (4th Cir. 1995)(requiring plaintiff to come forward 

with evidence that shows more than some "metaphysical doubt" that genuine factual issues 

exist).   
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B. Plaintiff Cannot Sustain a Claim for Wrongful Discharge Because the Evidence 
Demonstrates that Her Race Was Not a Factor in Arado's Decision to Terminate 
Her Employment.

Plaintiff alleges that Mayer Brown terminated her employment because of her race.  See

Amended Complaint, ¶ 44, 49 (Dkt. Entry 18), Title VII Complaint, ¶ 45 (Dkt. Entry 1).  

Plaintiff's allegations, however, are wholly unsupported by the record evidence.  To the contrary, 

the evidence demonstrates that plaintiff's race played no role in the decision to terminate her 

employment.  The persistent complaints Arado received regarding plaintiff's poor performance

were the sole reason he decided to terminate her employment.    

Plaintiff can point to no direct evidence of race discrimination.  Thus, her disparate 

treatment claim must be analyzed under the familiar McDonnell Douglas framework.5  Under 

this framework, plaintiff cannot even establish a prima facie case of discrimination; much less 

raise an inference that her termination was racially motivated.  As a result, plaintiff cannot 

sustain a claim for race discrimination and this action should be dismissed. 

1.  Plaintiff Was Not Replaced by Someone Outside of Her Protected Class and 
Cannot Show a Prima Facie Case of Employment Discrimination.

To establish a prima facie case of discriminatory termination, "a plaintiff must ordinarily 

show that the position ultimately was filled by someone not a member of the protected class."  

See Brown v. McLean, 159 F.3d 898, 905 (4th Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1099, 119 S. Ct. 

1577 (1999).  See also St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506, 113 S. Ct. 2742 

(1993).  Here, plaintiff cannot state a prima facie case because she cannot show that she was 

replaced.  Mayer Brown did not hire someone else to do the work plaintiff was hired to do, nor 

                                                
5 The standard for establishing a wrongful discharge claim is the same regardless of 

whether it is analyzed under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Title VII, or North Carolina public policy.  See 
White v. BFI Waste Servs., LLC, 375 F.3d 288, 295 (4th Cir. 2004); Hughes v. Bedsole, 48 F.3d 
1376, 1383 (4th Cir. 1995).
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was plaintiff's work taken over or performed by someone already at the Firm outside of plaintiff's 

protected class following her discharge.  See Statement of Undisputed Facts, supra ("Facts"), ¶¶ 

37-39.

Plaintiff also cannot state a prima facie case of race discrimination because she cannot 

demonstrate that she was performing her job duties at a level that met Mayer Brown's legitimate 

expectations.  King v. Rumsfeld, 328 F.3d 145 (4th Cir. 2003)(affirming summary judgment 

because there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether the plaintiff was meeting the 

employer's legitimate expectations), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1073, 124 S. Ct. 922 (2003).  Mayer 

Brown hired plaintiff primarily to perform real estate lending transactions, in particular 

originating real estate loans intended for securitization.  See Facts, ¶ 8.  Indeed, plaintiff 

acknowledges that most if not all of the work that she performed while at Mayer Brown was on 

lending transactions.  See Facts, ¶ 38.  However, in the weeks and months leading up to her 

discharge, because of her poor performance, partners and clients of the Firm with this type of 

work had all but decided not to utilize plaintiff, such that at the time of plaintiff's termination, 

she was engaged in very little client-chargeable work for any real estate clients. See Facts, ¶ 38.  

At the same time, the demand for lawyers to perform real estate securitized lending transactions 

was severely reduced due to the global economic downturn such that even today there is little to 

none of this work in the Firm generally, and the Charlotte office more specifically.  See Facts, ¶

39.  Accordingly, following plaintiff's termination from Mayer Brown, no one was hired to 

replace plaintiff in performing (or being available to perform) real estate securitized lending 

transactions in the Charlotte office.  See Facts, ¶ 37.  Indeed, in 2008 and 2009, due to economic 

conditions, the Firm was forced to lay-off several real estate associates throughout the country, 

including in Charlotte.  See Arado Decl. ¶¶ 81, 82.    
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In her deposition, plaintiff concedes that she does not know who replaced her.  See Pl. 

depo. 303:14-16.  Plaintiff, therefore, cannot dispute the record evidence which establishes that 

her position at the Firm was not filled.  See Facts, ¶ 37; Arado Decl. ¶¶ 72, 75.  Accordingly, 

plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie case and her race discrimination claims under Title VII, 

Section 1981 and North Carolina public policy fail as a matter of fact and law.

2. Plaintiff Cannot Show that Mayer Brown's Legitimate Non-discriminatory 
Reason for Terminating Her Employment is Pretextual.

Even if plaintiff could establish a prima facie case, her claim still fails because she cannot 

establish that Mayer Brown's legitimate non-discriminatory reason for her termination – poor 

performance – was a mere pretext for unlawful discrimination.  Under the well-known 

McDonnell Douglas framework, to defeat summary judgment, plaintiff must come forward with 

sufficient evidence from which a rational fact finder could conclude that Mayer Brown's 

proffered non-discriminatory reason for the challenged action was a mere pretext designed to 

mask discrimination.  See King, 328 F.3d at 150-154.  To do so, plaintiff must do more than 

speculate that her adverse employment action was the result of discriminatory animus, because 

such mere speculation is insufficient to demonstrate pretext as "no court sits to arbitrate mere 

differences in opinion between employees and their supervisors."  See Hawkins v. Pepsico, Inc., 

203 F.3d 274, 280-81 (4th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 875, 121 S. Ct. 181 (2000).

Here, there is nothing which demonstrates that the reason proffered for plaintiff's 

discharge was a mere pretext for race discrimination.  Plaintiff admits that, during her 

termination meeting, Arado told her that the reason that she was being discharged was because 

partners and clients had lost confidence in her work.  See Facts, ¶ 33.  Furthermore, it is beyond 

dispute that, during the months leading up to her termination, Arado learned or was informed 

that both Firm partners and Firm clients had significant issues with plaintiff's performance and 
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had lost confidence in her work, including some who would no longer utilize her on their 

transactions.  See Facts, ¶¶ 15-19, 24-29.  Plaintiff can proffer no evidence that the complaints 

did not occur or were fabricated by Arado.  See Pl. depo. 247:19-248:19.  Indeed, plaintiff 

concedes that she has no basis to cast doubt on the fact that Arado spoke directly with the people 

who had provided feedback on her performance.  See Pl. depo. 248:12-19.  In fact, plaintiff 

testified that, after Arado told her in April 2008 that Chicago partner Dean Isaacs was 

dissatisfied with her performance, she telephoned Isaacs to discuss his criticism.  See Pl depo. 

278:22-280:3.  During his telephone call with plaintiff, Isaacs confirmed that he had discussed 

with Arado his dissatisfaction with plaintiff's performance.  See Pl. depo. 279:12-17.  

Absent her naked speculation, plaintiff has failed to attribute to Arado any discriminatory 

animus.  Furthermore, because he was the same person who hired her in June 2007, there is a 

"powerful inference" that Arado's decision to discharge her in May 2008 "was not motivated by 

discriminatory animus."  See Evans v. Technologies Applications & Service Co., 80 F.3d 954, 

959 (4th Cir. 1996).  In Evans, the plaintiff alleged that her employer failed to promote her 

because of her sex.  But, the Fourth Circuit affirmed the grant of summary judgment for the 

defendant employer, rejecting the plaintiff's failure to promote claim because the decision-maker 

who denied her a promotion in February 1992 and February 1993 was the same decision-maker 

who hired her in June 1991.  Id.  In Amirmokri v. Baltimore Gas & Elec. Co., 60 F.3d 1126, 1130 

(4th Cir. 1995), the Fourth Circuit affirmed the grant of summary judgment for the defendant 

employer as to the plaintiff's failure to promote claim, rejecting the plaintiff's claim that his 

employer failed to promote him because of his national origin, stating that the employer "was 

aware of [the plaintiff's] Iranian descent just five months earlier when it hired him and allegedly 
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promised him a promotion, making it especially unlikely that he was denied a promotion because 

of his bias against his national origin."

In Tyndall v. Nat'l Education Centers, Inc., 31 F.3d 209, 214-15 (4th Cir. 1994), the 

Fourth Circuit affirmed the grant of summary judgment in favor of the defendant employer, 

rejecting the plaintiff's contention that she was discharged because of her disability, finding a 

"strong presumption of non-discrimination" because the person responsible for terminating the 

plaintiff's employment "is the same person who hired [her] with full knowledge of her 

disability."  Id. at 214.  As the Fourth Circuit recognized, "[a]n employer who intends to 

discriminate against disabled individuals or holds unfounded assumptions that such persons are 

not good employees would not be apt to employ disabled persons in the first place."  Id. at 215. 

In Evans, Amirmokri and Tyndall, the Fourth Circuit relied on its earlier decision in 

Proud  v. Stone, 945 F.2d 796 (4th Cir. 1991), in which the Court stated that, "[w]hen the hirer 

and firer are the same individual, there is a powerful inference relating to the 'ultimate question'

that discrimination did not motivate the employer . . . ."  Id. at 798.  The Fourth Circuit relied on 

the common sense notion that "employers who knowingly hire workers within a protected group 

seldom will be credible targets for charges of pretextual firing."  Id.  In addition, this strong 

inference or presumption advances one of the purposes of the equal employment opportunity 

laws – that is, to encourage employers to hire people in protected categories – because the 

presumption avoids the "grave risk that employers who otherwise would have no bias against 

[workers in protected categories] will now refuse to hire them in order to avoid meritless but 

costly . . . actions" if they later discharge or decide not to promote those employees.  Id.  See also 

Jiminez v. Mary Washington College, 57 F.3d 369, 378 (4th Cir. 1995)(once again recognizing 

the "strong inference" created by the same actor defense, and reversing the district court's 
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judgment in favor of the plaintiff in this Title VII race and national origin failure to promote 

claim), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 944, 116 S. Ct. 380 (1995).

This principle is well-recognized in this Court as well.  For example, in Jimoh v. 

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Housing Partnership, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46911 (W.D.N.C. 

2010), aff'd, 2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 9818 (4th Cir. 2011),6 this Court granted the defendant 

employer's motion for summary judgment, relying on the "strong inference" that the employer's 

stated reasons for not promoting the plaintiff were not pretextual because the person who made 

the decision not to promote her was the same person who made the decision to hire her two years 

earlier.  In Ingram v. Carolina Healthcare System, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17026, *19 

(W.D.N.C. 2007), this Court granted summary judgment to the defendant employer, concluding 

that the plaintiff's allegations of race discrimination in the issuance of disciplinary warnings were 

"belied by the undisputed fact that the same manager who issued the warning . . . also was the 

decision maker concerning one if not both of the Plaintiff's earlier promotions."  In Poteat v. PSC 

Automotive Group, Inc., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71491 (W.D.N.C. 2006), the plaintiff alleged 

that her employer discriminated against her based on her sex and age when it demoted her from 

her managerial position.  This Court granted summary judgment to the defendant employer, 

concluding that the plaintiff could not show pretext, and "[t]his is particularly true given the 

strong inference of non-discrimination that exists because [the person who demoted the plaintiff] 

is the same person who both promoted and removed [the plaintiff]."  Id. at *11.

Here, Arado not only hired plaintiff but actively encouraged and recruited her to join 

Mayer Brown from one of its competitors in June 2007.  See Facts, ¶ 2.  As the Fourth Circuit 

                                                
6 All of the unpublished decisions on which defendant relies are organized alphabetically 

and appended as Exhibit I to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.
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and this Court have recognized, Arado would not be "apt to employ" plaintiff if he was 

motivated to discriminate against her less than one year later because of her race.  See Tyndall, 

31 F.3d at 215.  To suggest that Arado was motivated by race bias in terminating her 

employment, but not in hiring her in the first place, "would appear to be irrational."  See Mitchell 

v. Data General Corp., 12 F.3d 1310, 1318 (4th Cir. 1993).

All that remains is plaintiff's own self-serving view of her performance, but this fails to 

establish that the reason proffered by Arado and Mayer Brown for terminating her employment 

was pretextual.  See Holland v. Wash. Homes, Inc., 487 F.3d 208, 217 (4th Cir. 2007), cert. 

denied, 552 U.S. 1102, 128 S. Ct. 955 (2008).   In assessing alleged pretext, "it is the perception 

of the decisionmaker which is relevant," not the perception of the employee, or even the 

employee's co-workers.  Id.   See also Tinsley v. First Union Nat'l Bank, 155 F.3d 435, 444 (4th

Cir. 1998)(noting that, while plaintiff's affidavit stated that certain co-workers and customers 

believed she was doing a good job, she could not demonstrate pretext because it is the perception 

of the decision-maker which is relevant to the question of retaliation); Kennedy v. Potter, 2008 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98090, * 38 (W.D.N.C. 2008) (concluding that plaintiff could not prove 

pretext because she presented only her own assertions that she "conducted herself as a 

professional and completed the tasks requested of her").

Here, it cannot be disputed that, in Arado's view, plaintiff's performance was 

unsatisfactory.  See Facts, ¶ 32.  Arado received persistent complaints from partners and clients 

about plaintiff's performance during her brief tenure with the Firm.  See Facts, ¶¶ 14-119, 18, 24-

28.  Indeed, most if not all of the partners with whom plaintiff worked expressed a negative 

opinion of plaintiff's work to Arado.  See Facts, ¶32.  Arado himself observed plaintiff's poor 

communication with partners, poor attitude, sub-par work performance, lack of availability, and 
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the fact that the very partners who could have provided her with real estate lending work had lost 

confidence in her abilities and would no longer utilize her on their transactions.  See Facts, ¶29.    

It is well established that "Title VII is not a vehicle for substituting the judgment of a 

court for that of an employer."  Jiminez, 57 F.3d at 377.  When an employer articulates a reason 

for discharging an employee not forbidden by law, "it is not the court's province to decide 

whether the reason was wise, fair, or even correct, ultimately, so long as it truly was the reason 

for plaintiff's termination."  Anglin v. Progress Energy Serv. Co., 645 F. Supp.2d 519, 526-27 

(E.D.N.C. 2009).  See also Evans, 80 F.3d at 960 (stating that an employer has discretion in 

decision-making provided the decision is not based upon unlawful criteria); Morley v. North 

Carolina Dep't of Health and Human Serv., 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14944, * 11 (W.D.N.C. 

2002)(reiterating that the "case law is clear that an employer can terminate an employee for good 

reason, a bad reason, or no reason at all, and it is only a discriminatory reason which will cause 

Title VII to be invoked"), aff'd, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 26225 (2002).

In short, plaintiff cannot proffer sufficient permissible evidence on which a reasonable 

juror "could reasonably base a finding that discrimination motivated the challenged employment 

action." Mackey v. Shalala, 360 F.3d 463 (4th Cir. 2004), cert. denied, 543 U.S. 876, 125 S. Ct. 

109 (2004).  As a result, plaintiff has failed to state a claim for race discrimination and her 

Complaints should be dismissed.

V. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, defendant Mayer Brown, by counsel, requests the Court to enter 

an Order granting its Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing plaintiff's Complaints, with 

prejudice; awarding Mayer Brown the costs incurred in this action, including its reasonable 

attorneys' fees and granting such further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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This 31st day of October 2011.

Respectfully submitted,

MCGUIREWOODS LLP

/s/  Makila Sands Scruggs
Bruce M. Steen (N.C. Bar No. 30222)
bsteen@mcguirewoods.com
Makila Sands Scruggs (N.C. Bar No. 37212)
mscruggs@mcguirewoods.com
MCGUIREWOODS LLP

Bank of America Corporate Center
201 North Tryon Street, Suite 3000
Charlotte, North Carolina  28202
704.353.6244
704.353.6200 (Facsimile)

Attorneys for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing Defendant's Memorandum in 

Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, 

which will send notice of such filing to counsel to plaintiff:

Julie H. Fosbinder
501 East Morehead Street, Suite 1
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

This the 31st day of October 2011.

/s/  Makila Sands Scruggs
Attorney
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